RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jul 16, 2015, 4:59 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 91929-1

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 45465-3-II

WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED
JUL 27 2015

In the Guardianship of KEIKO DECKER, an alleged
Incapacitated Person:

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
R

DANIEL F. QUICK, Former Attorney for Keiko Decker,

Petitioner,

v.

STEPHEN J. DeVOGHT, Guardian ad Litem, and
DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH
SERVICES,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory M. Miller, WSBA No. 14459
CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S.
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Daniel F. Quick asks the Court to grant review of the published Court of Appeals decision filed June 16, 2015, attached as Appendix A (“Decision” or “Slip Op.”).

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION & CASE SUMMARY

Division II of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s ex parte department commissioner’s order limiting to \$30,000 the attorney’s fees which Mrs. Keiko Decker (“Mrs. Decker”), the former *alleged* incompetent person, was permitted to pay her personal attorney, Mr. Quick, for the nearly 23 months of following her express instructions to resist the proposed guardianship, from June 2011 until the agreed order of limited guardianship was entered May 7, 2013. This means Mr. Quick is to pay to the guardianship over \$88,000 which Mrs. Decker had paid to him on an ongoing basis during the two-year contest over the guardianship.

The nub of the case is whether the trial court has legal authority to control the scope and amount of work for an *alleged* incompetent’s personal attorney who is required by statute, the constitutions, and legal ethics to follow his client’s instructions to retain her freedom. In short, is the trial court allowed to interfere with or control the work the personal attorney does for his client, particularly here where it is a private pay situation? The Court of Appeals affirmed such interference with the attorney-client

relationship and also gave the trial courts blank checks in determining the amount of fees to allow, requiring neither any form of analysis or findings. The fee ruling as affirmed is inconsistent with established decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, as there were no findings and conclusions, nor any meaningful analysis of how the fee amount was determined, as has been required for appellate review of such awards for at least four decades.¹

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The personal attorney for an *alleged* incompetent person is required by statute, longstanding constitutional law, and her ethical obligations to her client, to represent the wishes of her client who wants to resist a proposed guardianship, not the “best interests” of the *alleged* incompetent, which are to be represented and promoted by the GAL and Adult Protective Services. In these circumstances, and where no vulnerable adult proceeding has been initiated, does a trial court in a guardianship proceeding have the legal authority to control the scope and amount of legal work done by the privately paid personal attorney for an *alleged* incompetent person, whether directly by court order, or indirectly by seeking to control the fees the attorney is paid from private funds?
2. The trial court fee award, and the rationale used by Division II to affirm, both relied on the earlier orders purporting to restrict the personal attorney’s scope and

¹ See *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 433-35, 957 P.2d 632 (1998), *overruled on other grounds*, *Matsyuk v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 173 Wn.2d 643, 272 P.3d 802 (2012); *Guardianship of Hallauer*, 44 Wn. App. 795, 799-801, 723 P.2d 1161 (1986).

amount of work in representing his client. If the trial court does not have the legal authority to control the scope or amount of work done by an *alleged* incompetent's privately-paid personal attorney in resisting a guardianship, any orders purporting to limit the personal attorney's scope or amount of work or the fees are void. Should review be granted because void orders cannot support any subsequent order, including a fee award, so that the fee "award" (here, a limitation) and its affirmance, conflict with settled Washington and federal constitutional law, including *State v. Coe*, 101 Wn.2d 364, 69, 372 P.2d 353 (1984), *State ex rel. Superior Court v. Sperry*, 79 Wn.2d 69, 74, 483 P.2d 608, *certiorari. denied*, 404 U.S. 939 (1971), and *Bradley v. Fisher*, 80 U.S. 335, 343-44, 20 L. Ed. 646 (1871)?

3. Assuming (without agreeing) that a trial court in a guardianship has the legal authority to review the fees incurred and privately paid to an *alleged* incompetent's personal attorney engaged to resist the guardianship, is that review limited to determining the reasonableness of the fees incurred while accepting the scope and amount of work done at the client's behest; and must such determination be based on a reasoned analysis with appropriate findings and conclusions to permit meaningful appellate review under established case law, e.g., *Bowers v. Transamerica*, *Mahler v. Szucs*, *In re Guardianship of Hallauer*, and *In re Guardianship of Lamb*?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mrs. Decker was an independent-minded, proud 76-year old woman born and raised in Japan who was married to Air Force Col. Wilson Decker for over 45 years when he died in October, 2009. *See* Opening Brief ("OB") pp. 5-6. They had no children, she had

no relatives in the Tacoma where she lived, and her primary language still was Japanese, but she had a comfortable house, savings, and her husband's military pension. *Id.* Although because of her personal withdrawal following Col. Decker's death, a male physician who did not speak Japanese understandably thought she was showing signs of dementia² and alerted Adult Protective Services to investigate, fearing among other things she might be taken advantage of financially, and APS initiated guardianship proceedings in February 2011. OB 6-7. A GAL was appointed who reported that Mrs. Decker was extremely resistant to a guardianship and he could get no "cooperation" from her. *Id.* & fn. 1, 2. Because of the language barrier, the GAL sought an attorney experienced in guardianships and elder law who spoke Japanese. Surprisingly, there were none in Pierce County, so Mr. Quick was recruited from King County, despite the travel time required. OB 7. It worked.

Mrs. Decker finally had someone with whom she could speak fully. Although Mr. Quick was initially appointed by the trial court pursuant to RCW 11.88.045 and given a "budget" of hours he was supposedly limited to working, in October 2011 Mrs. Decker

² In fact, APS later acknowledged when it sought to dismiss the guardianship proceedings in 2012 that Mrs. Decker stated her health care providers "confused profound grief for dementia" as she was, not surprisingly, deep in grief if not depression from this dramatic change in her life. CP 46; *see* OB 12. Unfortunately, she did not get treatment, but a paternalistic reaction, even if well-meaning. This she fought, as was her right.

formally hired him directly to fight the guardianship and paid him directly for his legal work. OB 8. Two months later in December, 2011, she named Mr. Quick as her attorney in fact. OB 8-9. As the GAL wrote in his May, 2012 report, after Mr. Quick had been representing Mrs. Decker for a year and while also reporting that Mr. Quick had been named as her attorney in fact: “I recommend that Keiko Decker continue to retain Daniel Quick as her attorney [sic] she wants to; there is an established relationship, and the medical report indicates that she requires trusted legal counsel to adequately understand legal matters.” CP 42, ¶ 17. This shows the GAL recognized both that Mrs. Decker had trust in Mr. Quick and that his role was necessary for practical reasons. *See also* OB 9-14 detailing Mrs. Decker’s continued rejection of a guardianship and refusals to “cooperate”. It also shows the knowledge of the GAL, APS, and the trial court in Mr. Quick’s roles as attorney and attorney in fact.

In June, 2012, APS concluded that “Mrs. Decker has regained sufficient capacity [that she] no longer needs a guardian” and moved to dismiss the guardianship and replace it with a less restrictive alternative – but one which required removal of Mr. Quick as her attorney. *See* OB 11-13. Mrs. Decker resisted because she did not want to lose the one person with whom she could speak and who the GAL acknowledged was her trusted advisor. The APS motion to dismiss the guardianship, which was premised on the replacement of

Mr. Quick was denied, as was Mrs. Decker's motion to dismiss the guardianship outright for APS' failure to prosecute. *See* OB 11-13.

After further proceedings during the next year, and on the eve of a competency trial set for spring, 2013, Mrs. Decker acquiesced in a limited guardianship because the proposed limited guardian was her tax preparer for several years, a person she knew and trusted. *See* OB 14. The order was entered May 7, 2013, over two years after the guardianship was initiated and 23 months after Mr. Quick was sought out to be Mrs. Decker's personal attorney. *Id.*

A hearing was held in August, 2013, to finalize Mr. Quick's work in the matter and, from his perspective, go through the formality of approving the fees that had been paid and provide for any fees owing to him after the guardianship order had been entered, since Mrs. Decker had paid him on an ongoing basis. OB 14-18. He submitted his time records and a declaration detailing the work done since June of 2011, over two years by the hearing. OB 15 & CP 145-265. While the GAL and APS both filed responses to Mr. Quick's papers, neither specifically challenged the reasonableness of his fees, deferring to the trial court. The GAL filed detailed papers, and a copy of RPC 1.5 as "additional relevant authority" (CP 324-325), indicating those factors should guide the court's determination of what is a reasonable fee. The nub of the GAL's complaint was that while Mr. Quick was qualified and willing to act and "worked diligently to promote Mrs. Decker's stated preferences, but failed to

follow the court orders which mandate that he get prior approval of the court for additional authority (hours) to represent her.” CP 518:19-21.

After the hearing Commissioner Dicke agreed with the arguments that she had the right to control Mr. Quick’s work as Mrs. Decker’s personal attorney and gave a flat number of \$30,000, for which no basis was proffered. *See* I RP p. 30: “I’m inclined to order \$30,000,” a figure no person had suggested and for which no basis was provided in reaching, whether via RPC’s, or any kind of loadstar analysis. Judge Nevin denied revision.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. Review Should Granted Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) on the Issue of the Trial Court’s Authority To Monitor And Control the Personal Attorney Representing An Alleged Incompetent Person Because The Decision Conflicts With the State and Federal Constitutions, With the Intent of the statutes Intended to Implement the Constitutional Protections for Persons Confronted with a Guardianship Petition, With Decisions of This Court Including

The guardianship statutes provide for a personal attorney for an alleged incompetent person and draws a clear line between the lawyer’s duties and that of the GAL:

Counsel for an alleged incapacitated individual shall act as an advocate for the client and shall not substitute counsel's own judgment for that of the client on the subject of what may be in the client's best interests. Counsel's role shall be distinct

from that of the guardian ad litem, who is expected to promote the best interest of the alleged incapacitated individual, rather than the alleged incapacitated individual's expressed preferences.

RCW 11.88.045(b) (emphasis added). As noted in the briefing, particularly Mr. Quick's reply brief, this statutory provision is actually codifying underlying state and federal constitutional rights of an *alleged* incompetent such as Mrs. Decker to resist the guardianship and direct legal counsel to do so. *See In re the Guardianship of Beecher*, 130 Wn. App. 66, 121 P.3d 743 (2005), discussed in OB pp. 25-28 and other authorities therein; RB, pp. 11-21 and cases cited, including *In re Matter of Quesnell*, 83 Wn.2d 224, 238-39, 517 P.2d 568 (1973), *In re Houts*, 7 Wn. App. 476, 481, 499 P.2d 1276 (1972); and *Graham v. Graham*, 40 Wn.2d 64, 240 P.2d 564 (1952). Interestingly, many of the same cases were just cited by Division I in its recent decision affirming the constitutional rights of a person for whom a GAL purports to act and the limits on a trial court's authority in accepting waivers, there in a marriage context. *See In re Marriage of Lane*, ___ Wn. App. ___, ___ P.3d ___, 2015 WL 3970634 (June 29, 2015).

The problem in this case, and why review should be granted is that the trial court did not appreciate the role of the personal attorney. First, it entered orders purporting to limit the scope and amount of legal work to be done for Mrs. Decker. Then it limited the fees that it would "approve" for following his client's directives

to resist the guardianship. The transcript of the hearing makes it apparent that the commissioner believed that Mr. Quick should not have followed his client's directives but, in fact, acted more like a GAL and realized "the context" of the case and not spend so much time on it. This essentially eliminates the core requirement of the personal attorney of representing the *alleged* incompetent person as required by the statute and constitutional law. To the extent there is any arguable conflict between the statute and the constitution, the alleged incompetent's right to representation necessarily trumps the statute and voids any orders purportedly made in pursuant to the overbroad statute.

2. Review Should Be Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3), & (4) Because The Published Decision Conflicts With Decisions of This Court Regarding Determining Reasonable Attorneys' Fees Including *In Re Guardianship of Lamb and Mahler v. Szucs*, and Other Decisions Of The Court Of Appeals Including *In re Guardianship of Hallauer*, And Because The Decision Dramatically Changes The Law Regarding Fee Awards In Guardianship Proceedings By Giving Trial Courts Unreviewable Discretion When There Is No Principled Basis For Determining The Fee Amount.

The decision sets up the false contention that Mr. Quick argued the Lodestar analysis was the required analysis for calculating attorney's fees, using that as the proverbial "straw-man" argument it then tears down in a tortured analysis to hold the Lodestar need not apply in the guardianship context because the

lodestar only applies to calculate fees to a “prevailing party” and that no findings are required to support a fee award. Slip Op., pp. 14 – 19. The result of this published decision is a fundamental change in the law. Now, no principled analysis is required for fee awards in a guardianship. *See id.* Nor are any written findings needed. This is contrary to settled law. *See, e.g., Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 433-435, 957 P.2d 632, 966 P.2d 305 (1998), *overruled on other grounds, Matsyuk v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 173 Wn.2d 643, 272 P.3d 802 (2012), incorporating the lodestar analysis in *Bowers v. Transamerica*, 100 Wn.2d 581, 595-601, 675 P.2d 193 (1983) as the “suggested” method for making fee awards in part due to its reliance on principles from the rules of professional conduct. *See also* cases collected in OB at pages 21-22 and footnotes 8-10, fee awards under the statute in both guardianship and probate contexts.

Moreover, Mr. Quick never argued that the Lodestar analysis was the only analysis that could be applied, just that it was the preferred analysis. *See* Opening Brief, pp. 21-24; Reply Brief, pp. 9-10. For example, Heading IV. B. of the OB reads in part that “the Order Must Be Vacated Because the Trial Court Failed to Engage in a Proper Lodestar **or Similar Analysis**” and also failed to make required findings. OB, p. 21 (emphasis added). Finally, Mr. Quick argued *Guardianship of Hallauer*, 44 Wn. App. 795, 799-801, 723 P.2d 1161 (1986), a pre-*Bowers* and pre-*Mahler* case which reversed the trial court’s fee award because it did not detail the basis for its

award. *See* OB., pp. 22-23; Reply Brief, p. 10. *Hallauer*, ignored by the Panel, is quite clear what is required as to fee awards under the same statute at issue in this case:

An award of fees is not simply payment for “work actually performed”. A substantive analysis must also be made; first, by the attorney to determine what fees to charge; and second, by the court to determine what to award. Included in that analysis is the necessity of the given work that is charged. *See [In re estate of] Larson*, 103 Wn.2d [517] at 523-24, 530-32[, 694 P.2d 1051 1985].

What needs to be evaluated by the court then is (1) which claims benefited the estate; (2) what work was necessary to pursue those claims; (3) the reasonableness of the hours billed to perform the needed work; and (4) the propriety of the hourly rate. . . . On remand, the trial court should disallow fees for duplicative service, possibly including the attendance of second counsel at trial, for work not related to the specific issues which actually benefited the estate, and for fees in excess of the amount necessary to present the issues upon which Rainier prevailed.

Guardianship of Hallauer, 44 Wn.App. at 800-801. Here Mr. Quick undeniably provided services as required by Mrs. Decker and maintained her freedom for two years. If the trial court is allowed to review her payment of Mr. Quick’s fees for the time before May 7, 2013, the kind of analysis required by *Hallauer* is also required here.

Review should be granted because the Decision is in conflict with this line of cases in guardianship and for fee awards generally which require a reasoned analysis for a fee determination. Review should be granted if for no other reason than if such a major change

is to be made to well-established law of calculating fees in Washington, it should be made by the Supreme Court.

Finally, the Decision confuses the standing of a person to assert the constitutional rights of another (here Mr. Quick to assert Mrs. Decker's rights) with Mr. Quick's absolute right to challenge the legal authority of the trial court to make orders affecting him. After raising standing *sua sponte* to rule that Mr. Quick lacked standing to challenge the trial court's right to take away Mrs. Decker's decision-making before she acquiesced in the limited guardianship (*see Slip Op.*, at pp. 13-14), the Decision states that "it would not make sense to construe the statute to require a trial court to use a lodestar analysis where, as here, the attorney has violated the previous court orders limiting him to a certain number of hours of representation." *Slip Op.*, p. 16, ¶ 2.

But as noted in the argument *supra*, the trial court simply had no legal authority to make those orders limiting Mr. Quick to a certain number of hours as Mrs. Decker's personal attorney, especially where she had the ability to pay him for his work. The trial court, plain and simple, had no legal authority to limit her representation. As such, they are void. *See, e.g., State v. Coe*, 101 Wn.2d 364, 69-372 (collateral bar issue), 374-381 (prior restraint as void under state and federal constitutions), 679 P.2d 353 (1984) ("Under Washington law, if the order in this case was patently invalid or 'void' as outside the court's power, the contempt

judgment must be reversed...For the foregoing reasons the order is annulled, as being beyond the power of the court to make”) (also holding that a contemnor may collaterally attack an unconstitutional prior restraint); *State ex rel. Superior Court v. Sperry, supra*, 79 Wn.2d 69, 74 (per McGovern, J.) (“We have held in a number of cases that a void order or decree, as distinguished from one that is merely erroneous, may be attacked in a collateral proceeding...The violation of an order patently in excess of the jurisdiction of the issuing court cannot produce a valid judgment of contempt...”)

It would be no different than suggesting the trial court could limit the number of hours a criminal defendant’s private-pay attorney could spend on the case, be it a minor felony or murder 1. Where the client has the money to pay the attorney, a court cannot interfere, whether at the time or after the fact, much less both. And where the court has no legal authority to enter the given order, the order is void. The Decision’s rationale for avoiding the lodestar falls of its own weight.

- 3. Review Should Be Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(4) To Restore The Understanding Of The Necessary Balance In Guardianships Between The GAL’s and Adult Protective Services’ Necessarily Paternalistic-Maternalistic Approaches And Efforts And The Trial Court’s Supervisory Role To Protect The *Alleged* Incompetent And The Fundamentally Different Role Played By The *Alleged* Incompetent’s Personal Attorney Who, In Cases Like This And *Beecher*, Will Necessarily Challenge And Frustrate The Efforts Of The GAL and APS**

Rather Than Help Them “Steer” Their Client Into A Guardianship They Insist They Do Not Want. Restoring That Understanding And Balance Includes Reminding Trial Courts They Do Not Have The Authority To Limit The Time Or Effort Of Those Personal Attorneys, Just As They Have No Right To Limit The Efforts Of A Privately Paid Criminal Defense Attorney Who Is Also Seeking To Maintain Her Client’s Freedom.

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