RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Sep 09, 2015, 2:09 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 91929-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In the Guardianship of KEIKO DECKER, an Incapacitated Person:

DANIEL F. QUICK, Former Attorney for Keiko Decker,

Appellant,

v.

STEPHEN J. DeVOGHT, Guardian ad Litem, and DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondents.

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES' ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

NATALIE KING, WSBA# 43168 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE P.O. BOX 40124 OLYMPIA, WA 98504-0124 (360) 586-6565 OID# 91021



FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A petition for discretionary review by this Court must show that the Court of Appeals decision meets the factors in RAP 13.4(b). Mr. Quick raises numerous issues for review by this Court. However, none of these issues meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). Because Mr. Quick does not have standing to raise Mrs. Decker's constitutional claims and because the Court of Appeals decision relied on basic principles of statutory construction, this case involves no significant constitutional issues. Mr. Quick also fails to show a conflict between this decision and any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals. Finally, this case

involves no issue of substantial public interest because the Court of Appeals decision properly protects the interests of alleged incapacitated persons in guardianship proceedings.

A. The Court Of Appeals Decision Does Not Raise A Significant Issue Of Constitutional Law

1. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Ruled That Mr. Quick Does Not Have Standing To Raise Constitutional Claims On Behalf Of Mrs. Decker

Mr. Quick contends that the Court of Appeals decision raises a significant issue of constitutional law. But the claimed constitutional issues relate to Mrs. Decker's constitutional rights, not Mr. Quick's. It is well settled that a litigant attempting to vindicate a third party's constitutional rights bears the burden of showing that "the allegedly injured third party lacks the ability to vindicate his or her rights."³ *In re Guardianship of Cobb*, 172 Wn. App. 393, 403, 292 P.3d 772 (2012). Acting in the place of Mrs. Decker, Mrs. Decker's guardian is the proper party to vindicate Mrs. Decker's constitutional rights, unless proven otherwise. Mr. Quick did not show that Mrs. Decker is unable to protect her own interests through her guardian and so Mr. Quick does not have standing to assert Mrs. Decker's constitutional rights. *In re Guardianship of Decker*, 353 P.3d 669, 676-77 (2015). Thus, Mr. Quick's claim that his

³ The other two requirements are (1) an injury-in-fact that gives the litigant a sufficiently concrete interest in the outcome of the dispute and (2) a close relationship to the third party. Cobb 172 Wn. App. at 401-02.

case involves Mrs. Decker's constitutional rights to direct her attorney is misplaced.

2. Applying Basic Principles Of Statutory Construction, The Court Of Appeals Correctly Found That The Plain Language Of RCW 11.88.045 Permits The Court To Oversee And Reduce Mr. Quick's Fees

An alleged incapacitated person retains constitutional rights, including the right to counsel and the right to a trial on the issue of incapacity. RCW 11.88.045. During the time Mrs. Decker was an alleged incapacitated person, she invoked her constitutional right to counsel and requested a trial. CP at 27. Those rights are undisputed and are not at issue in this matter. The issue here is whether the court correctly interpreted the plain meaning of RCW 11.88.045 that allows for court oversight of attorney fees for an alleged incapacitated person.

It is a basic principle of statutory construction that a court does not look beyond the plain language of the statute when it is clear. *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010). And, a court will "refrain from deciding constitutional issues when a case can be decided on nonconstitutional grounds." *Decker*, 353 P.3d at 676 (citing *Isla Verde Int'l Holdings, Inc. v. City of Camas*, 146 Wn.2d 740, 752, 49 P.3d 867 (2002)).

///

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly used a plain language analysis of the statute at issue in holding that attorney fees for an alleged incapacitated person are subject to court approval. *Decker*, 353 P.3d at 674. Given the language of the statute, it could not hold otherwise:

During the pendency of any guardianship, any attorney purporting to represent a person *alleged or adjudicated* to be incapacitated shall petition to be appointed to represent the incapacitated or alleged incapacitated person. Fees for representation described in this section *shall be subject to approval by the court*...

RCW 11.88.045(2) (emphasis added); *see also Decker*, 353 P.3d at 675. The case did not raise a constitutional issue and so the Court of Appeals did not need to address one. Instead, the Court of Appeals ruled on the plain language of the statute.

3. The Cases Cited By Mr. Quick Are Immaterial And Do Not Raise Underlying Issues Of Constitutional Law

Mr. Quick asserts in his petition for review that Mrs. Decker has a general constitutional right to resist the appointment of a guardian but provides no specific alleged violation of the Constitution. Rather, Mr. Quick points to a family law matter, *In re Marriage of Lane*, 354 P.3d 27, 2015 WL 3970634 (June 29, 2015), that contains references to a number of other Washington cases. He asserts that these cases codify underlying constitutional principles at issue in this case. However, all of the cases cited by Mr. Quick relate to a litigation GAL's waiver of a ward's right to

trial or other substantial right not at issue in this case. In re Marriage of Lane, 354 P.3d 27, 2015 WL 3970634 (June 29, 2015), (A litigation GAL appointed in a dissolution proceeding could not waive the incapacitated person's right to trial), In re Matter of Quesnell, 83 Wn.2d 224, 238-39, 517 P.2d 568 (1973) (A litigation GAL appointed in a civil commitment proceeding could not waive the right to a jury trial without the knowing consent of the patient), In re Houts, 7 Wn. App. 476, 481, 499 P.2d 1276 (1972) (In a termination proceeding, it was improper to appoint a parents' attorney as a parents' litigation GAL and the litigation GAL could not exclude the parents from a hearing), and Graham v. Graham, 40 Wn.2d 64, 240 P.2d 564 (1952) (A party has the right to a hearing to defend against the appointment of a litigation GAL in a pending lawsuit). These cases have no application here because they all involve a litigation GAL waiving a substantial constitutional right belonging to an individual. Here, there is no dispute that Mrs. Decker had a right to trial and no issue regarding a waiver of her right to trial or any other substantial constitutional right. More importantly, none of those cases address the propriety of requiring court approval of attorney fees for attorneys appointed to represent alleged capacitated person, as here.

///

|||

Nor does Mr. Quick's reference to In re Guardianship of Beecher, 130 Wn. App. 66, 121 P.3d 743 (2005), a Court of Appeals, Division I decision, establish a constitutional issue meriting this Court's review. As in this case, Beecher was decided on statutory grounds rather than constitutional grounds. Beecher, 130 Wn. App. at 72. Further, Beecher is not applicable to the facts of this case because, unlike in Beecher, here the ward was ultimately adjudicated incapacitated. Compare Decker 393 P.3d at 676 (the court could oversee and reduce attorney fees when the alleged incapacitated person was ultimately determined do be incapacitated), with Beecher 130 Wn. App. at 68 (the court could not reduce attorney fees when the alleged incapacitated person was never determined to be incapacitated). Because Beecher is factually distinguishable from this case and creates no constitutional right for an attorney to be paid without court oversight, Beecher does not raise any constitutional issues material to this matter.

4. The Record Does Not Support Mr. Quick's Claim That Mrs. Decker Was Denied The Right To Representation

Even if Mr. Quick could assert the rights of a third party, Mr. Quick cannot show that Mrs. Decker was actually denied legal representation or any other constitutional right. Mr. Quick requested and received authorization for fifty hours of representation without objection

from any of the parties. Mr. Quick never requested additional hours from the court, so Mr. Quick was never denied any additional requested hours. CP at 32, 423. Instead, Mr. Quick violated the court orders that instructed him to seek court approval of additional hours of representation. *Id.* Again, Mr. Quick's assertion that there was any infringement on Mrs. Decker's constitutional right to defend against the guardianship falls short.

The Court of Appeals decision rests upon the interpretation of statute and not the state or federal constitutions. Mr. Quick lacks standing to pursue a constitutional claim on behalf of Mrs. Decker and, in any event, he has failed to show that Mrs. Decker's constitutional rights were aggrieved by the court's decision. For these reasons, discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b) is not justified.

B. The Court Of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With A Decision Of The Supreme Court Or Another Decision Of The Court Of Appeals

Mr. Quick also asserts that the Court of Appeals decision "dramatically changes the law regarding fee awards in guardianship proceedings" and is in conflict with *In re Guardianship of Lamb*, 173 Wn.2d 173, 265 P.3d 876 (2011), *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 957 P.2d 632 (1998) (overruled on other grounds by Matsyuk v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 173 Wn.2d 643, 659, 272 P.3d 802 (2012)), and *In* *re Guardianship of Hallauer*, 44 Wn. App. 795, 723 P.2d 1161 (1986). Appellant's Petition for Review at 9. In fact, the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with the case law on attorney fees in a guardianship context, and does not conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals.

Mr. Quick argues that the Court of Appeals decision creates a conflict with the *Hallauer* decision. In *Hallauer*, the court awarded attorney fees under RCW 11.76.070, which involves the discretionary award of fees where an accounting action is brought against a guardian. *Hallauer*, 44 Wn. App. 798. The *Hallauer* court established guidelines to award fees to a guardian based on whether the guardian's work benefitted the incapacitated person's estate. *Id.* at 800-01. But Mrs. Decker's case involves a fee determination for an attorney appointed for an alleged incapacitated person on a "just and reasonable" basis under RCW 11.92.180 and therefore the *Hallauer* decision does not apply. Because the circumstances and legal standards in this case and *Hallauer* are distinguishable, the cases do not conflict.

Mr. Quick also cites to the *Lamb* case but provides no analysis about how *Lamb* conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision. Appellant's Petition for Review at 9. The *Lamb* court found no abuse of discretion when the trial court disallowed a guardians' request for fees for general advocacy activities. *Lamb*, 173 Wn.2d at 191. Rather than creating a conflict with this case, the *Lamb* decision also cites to RCW 11.92.180 and the "just and reasonable" standard to award fees in guardianship matters. *Id.* at 185.

Furthermore, the general guidance provided by both *Hallauer* and *Lamb* is consistent with the Court of Appeals decision. *Hallauer* and *Lamb* both reiterate that statutory guardianships are "equitable creations of the courts and it is the court that retains ultimate responsibility for protecting the ward's person and estate." *Id.* at 184 (quoting *Hallauer*, 44 Wn. App. at 797). This guidance is consistent with the Court of Appeals decision which states

In reaching this decision, the commissioner kept to the agreed reasonable rate or \$250.00 per hour, and arrived at an award of total fees that took into account Quick's violation of the court orders, but also considered the unexpected difficulty Quick faced in this unusual guardianship case. In doing so, the commissioner appears to have balanced the equitable factors central to the guardianship statute.

Decker 353 P.3d at 679.

Another case Mr. Quick argues conflicts with this case is *Mahler v. Szucs*, which instructs trial courts to generally use the lodestar method when determining the award of attorney fees and costs. *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d at 434-35. However, this method is not required in all contexts. For example, the lodestar is not required in contexts where the primary considerations for the fee award are equitable, as is the case with guardianship matters. *In re Marriage of Van Camp*, 82 Wn. App. 339, 342, 918 P.2d 509 (holding that the lodestar method was not required to determine fee award in marital dissolution cases), *review denied*, 130Wn.2d 1019, 928 P.2d 416 (1996). *Mahler* does not control a decision regarding the award of fees in the guardianship context, so there is no conflict between it and this decision.

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with precedent in the guardianship context and gives effect to RCW 11.88.045 and RCW 11.92.180, which require fees in a guardianship matter be determined on a "just and reasonable" basis. Therefore, discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) is not justified when the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with a decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals.

C. The Court Of Appeals Decision Does Not Raise An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By The Supreme Court

Further, the Court of Appeals decision does not raise an issue of substantial public interest because the Court of Appeals decision correctly protects the public interest by ensuring court oversight of an alleged ///

incapacitated person's estates when that person is ultimately determined to be incapacitated.

The purpose of the guardianship statute is to benefit and protect the life and property of the alleged incompetent. *In re Guardianship of Atkins*, 57 Wn. App. 771, 777, 790 P.2d 210 (1990). Guardianships are unique matters because the court bears the responsibility for protecting the person and estate of an incapacitated person. *Hallauer*, 44 Wn. App. at 797. And the courts have long held broad discretion in the administration of guardianship proceedings so as to protect the interests of the incapacitated person. *See* RCW 11.92.010; 11.96A.020.

Protection of alleged incapacitated and incapacitated people must be balanced with the intent of the Legislature "to protect the liberty and autonomy of all people of this state, and to enable them to exercise their rights under the law to the maximum extent, consistent with the capacity of each person." RCW 11.88.005. Court oversight of attorney fees is consistent with the purpose of the guardianship statute to protect the life and estate of the *alleged* incapacitated person. Court oversight of such fees is a reasonable precaution where the question inherent to the entire proceeding is the ability of the alleged incapacitated person to protect his or her own personal and financial safety. And, court oversight is

especially warranted where the court itself has created the attorney-client relationship by appointing an attorney for the alleged incapacitated person.

The guardianship statutes at issue, consistent with the Court of Appeals decision, maintain this balance by allowing court oversight of attorney fees for the most vulnerable people in Washington State. Therefore, there is no significant public interest at stake to justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. CONCLUSION

This case does not warrant review by this Court. The Court of Appeals used well-settled legal principles concerning statutory construction to determine that attorney fees for an individual who is alleged to be incapacitated under chapter 11.88 RCW, and is ultimately adjudged to be incapacitated, are properly reviewed by the trial court. There is no significant issue of constitutional law. There is no conflict among the divisions of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court with the Court of Appeals decision. Further, the interpretation of these laws do not present an issue of substantial public interest that needs to be addressed again by this Court. As such, Mr. Quick's Petition does not meet the criteria for acceptance of review.

|||

///

For the reasons outlined above, the Department respectfully requests that this Court deny the Appellant's Petition for Review.